FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/22/2020 4:31 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/23/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. <u>98118-3</u> [COURT OF APPEAL NO. 78574-5-I]

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES NEEDHAM, Individually,

Respondent,

v.

SHERYL DREYER, individually, and her marital community, and DAVITA EVERETT PHYSICIANS, INC. P.S. a/k/a

The Everett Clinic,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jennifer D. Koh, WSBA #25464
FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF
ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE,
PLLC
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 749-0094
Attorneys for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Sheryl Dreyer, M.D. and The Everett Clinic¹ submit this Petition Review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

James Needham sued Dr. Dreyer, claiming she failed to diagnose pneumonia on December 28, 2012, causing him to collapse in the snow and suffer frostbite injuries on December 31. After a two-week trial in which the parties disputed whether the standard of care required Dr. Dreyer to investigate a "breathing complaint" noted in the medical record by a medical assistant when Mr. Needham told Dr. Dreyer he had no trouble breathing, the jury returned a verdict for Dr. Dreyer on standard of care.

On December 23, 2019, in a published opinion (Appendix A), Division I implicitly adopted Mr. Needham's theory and disregarded Dr. Dreyer's evidence, holding that the trial court erred by giving the exercise of judgment instruction. Without evaluating the evidence and arguments considered by the trial court or its statements on the record regarding the admission of evidence of Mr. Needham's use of alcohol on December 31 as relevant to both parties' causation theories as well as Dr. Dreyer's contributory negligence claim, Division I also held that the trial court erred "because the probative value of that evidence was substantially outweighed

-1-

¹ This brief refers to Dr. Dreyer and the Everett Clinic collectively as Dr. Dreyer.

by the risk of unfair prejudice." *Id.* at 2, 15-20. And, without describing or considering the trial court's instructions to the jury and its special verdict form requiring the jury to consider causation only if it found a violation of the standard of care, and without presuming that the jury followed those instructions, Division I determined that the trial court's errors were not harmless, and reversed the jury's verdict on standard of care. *Id.* at 2.

Dr. Dreyer seeks this Court's review of Division I's decision because it conflicts with this Court's holding in *Fergen v. Sestero*, 182 Wn.2d 794, 346 P.3d 708 (2015); the holding of the Court of Appeals in *Colley v. PeaceHealth*, 177 Wn. App. 717, 312 P.3d 989 (2013), regarding the admission of defense expert testimony on causation; and various decisions by this Court and the Court of Appeals regarding the abuse of discretion standard of review and the application of a harmless error analysis in the context of a jury trial.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Under *Fergen*, may a trial court give an exercise of judgment instruction when it is satisfied that a defendant has produced "evidence of use of clinical judgment in diagnosis or treatment" rather than "evidence of consciously ruling out other diagnosis," or must a physician to present evidence that she "made" "an active choice" regarding each specific violation of the standard of care alleged by the plaintiff?

- 2. Under *Colley*, is a defendant permitted to present expert testimony calling into question the premises of the plaintiff's experts' causation testimony without assuming the burden to prove causation on a more likely than not basis?
- 3. When evidence is admitted for its relevance to the element of causation, but a jury later found no standard of care violation, was the erroneous admission of the evidence, if at all, harmless error?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Factual Background</u>.

After providing care to James Needham for 16 months, Dr. Sheryl Dreyer was familiar with his medical history. 3 RP (Smith) 422-23, 427-28; 4 RP (Smith) 669-70; Ex. 101 at 5-10; 1 RP (Starr) 189-90, 194. Before his December 28, 2012 visit, Dr. Dreyer reviewed medical records of his recent hospitalizations for pneumonia in early October 2012, and, later that month, for C. difficile, a secondary bacterial infection that often causes diarrhea. She knew of his call on November 30, 2012 to report that, despite taking medication to slow diarrhea, he still had three to seven diarrhea stools a day that "smell[ed] like a rotting corpse with sulphur thrown in," prompting her to order a stool sample and a gastroenterology consultation. 2 RP (Smith) 219-20; 3 RP (Smith) 440; 1 RP (Starr) 21-22, 66, 194-95, 198, 202-15; 2 RP (Starr) 239-40, 287-89, 302-305.

During the December 28, 2012 visit, knowing that Mr. Needham may have already reported symptoms or concerns to her receptionist, medical assistant, or nurse, Dr. Dreyer asked Mr. Needham about his concerns. 1 RP (Starr) 198-201; 2 RP (Starr) 301-06. After discussing his complaints of back pain, diarrhea, and stress and depression with Mr. Needham, Dr. Dreyer conducted a "review of systems," wherein she asked him to report any problems with various physical systems; when she asked him about breathing problems, he reported he did not have any. 1 RP (Starr) 198-201; 2 RP (Starr) 305:14-22, 378-79, 382-83, 384:2-12; Ex. 101 at 256.

While speaking with Mr. Needham, and as she conducted her physical examination of his back to investigate his complaint of back pain, Dr. Dreyer "was pretty close" to him and observed that Mr. Needham was not coughing, did not appear short of breath, appeared to be breathing normally, and his respiratory rate was fine. 1 RP (Starr) 199:13-200:21, 201:4-11; 2 RP (Starr) 301:11-302:4, 309:7-311:1, 385:2-6, 391:7-14. Based on her examination, Dr. Dreyer made recommendations to Mr. Needham for managing his back pain and, because she believed that he may have been experiencing a recurrence of C. difficile but she wanted confirmation before prescribing medications that might not solve the problem, she re-ordered stool testing and a gastroenterology consultation. 2 RP (Starr) 299, 312:5-9, 313:10-314:24, 391:25-392:6; Ex. 101 at 257, 259.

Four days later, on January 1, 2013, his friends found Mr. Needham in an unheated cabin "shivering and incoherent," with "sores on his body" and scratches on his bare feet. 4 RP (Smith) 629-30, 632-35, 637-39, 641, 643-44; Ex. 102 at 23. That night, after he had received care at United General for several hours, the admitting hospitalist at Providence Regional Medical Center Everett took a history from Mr. Needham, noting in the medical record at 10:38 p.m. that he was "awake and alert," and his previous "unresponsiveness" was "probably related to EtoH use," that Mr. Needham: "admits to increased ETOH intake lately," "reported drinking more than ususal," "admits to drinking some vodka today...past couple weeks he may have been drinking more alcohol than usual...admits to me 3 rum and cokes, 2 shots of rum in each drink...admits to the nurse some minimal beer intake...," and that Mr. Needham was placed on alcohol withdrawal protocol. CP 56-57, 1936-37; Ex. 102 at 23-28. Providence records also reflect that Mr. Needham admitted to his discharge planner that he "passed out in the snow after a 7 day drinking binge and was too weak to get himself up."² 4 RP (Smith) 555-56 (referencing defendant's trial exhibit 103-458);

-

² Contrary to Division I's statement that Dr. Dreyer's counsel's "hypothetical" about "binge-drinking for seven days" posed to Dr. Veal was "unsupported by the record," *Slip Op*. at 21, the trial court admitted medical records, *see* CP 2778 (listing defendant's exhibit 103 as admitted) including Mr. Needham's admission to a seven-day drinking binge; Mr. Needham relied on this specific reference in the medical record during his direct examination of his expert witness Dr. Darracq to support his claim that his differing reports of his alcohol consumption were not reliable, and therefore not useful for forming causation opinions, 4 RP (Smith) 555-56.

see also CP 2778. Ultimately, Mr. Needham's frostbite injuries required amputation of his legs below the knee. 5 RP (Smith) 787, 882-83, 890, 892; 3 (Smith) 464; 2 RP (Starr) 338-39.

B. <u>Procedural Background – Trial Court.</u>

Mr. Needham sued Dr. Dreyer, claiming that her failure to diagnose *pneumonia* at the December 28 visit caused his frostbite injuries when he went into the snow with bare feet to find a cat and collapsed in the snow for the night. CP 2771-76. Dr. Dreyer denied his allegations. CP 27766-69.

1. Mr. Needham's admissions of alcohol use was admissible because it was relevant to both his and Dr. Dreyer's experts' opinions, and her contributory negligence defense.

Prior to trial, Mr. Needham asked the trial court to exclude "speculative evidence," through the testimony of defense experts, "that alcohol, not pneumonia, caused [him] to collapse." CP 2286-95. Mr. Needham admitted that it was "undisputed that [he] consumed some alcohol on New Years Eve of 2012," but he claimed he did not actually consume the amount he had previously admitted to his medical providers. CP 2289. He also admitted that his experts considered his self-reported alcohol consumption when forming their opinions and would testify that he "would have collapsed from pneumonia regardless of whether he consumed alcohol or not." CP 2293. In her response, Dr. Dreyer pointed out that Mr. Needham's admissions to his medical care providers regarding his alcohol

consumption were admissible under ER 803(a)(4) and ER 904 and relevant to the jury's assessment of Mr. Needham's credibility as his later testimony differed from what he had told providers. Moreover, Mr. Needham's experts admitted that they considered (1) his admissions regarding alcohol, (2) the fact that any alcohol he consumed on the evening of December 31 would have been fully metabolized by 2:00 p.m. on January 1 when he was tested for alcohol, and (3) that he was "a habitual user of alcohol" and opioids to form their opinions ruling out alcohol as a medical cause of his collapse. CP 1935-43; *see also* 1 RP (Smith) 16-17. Relevant to potential causes of Mr. Needham's "collapse," Dr. Dreyer clarified that she was not trying to prove a superseding cause – she had no burden of proof – she intended to attack the premises adopted by Mr. Needham's experts to show he lacked proof of causation, consistent with *Colley*. *Id*.

Also prior to trial, the trial court considered the relevance of Mr. Needham's admissions of alcohol use and heard extensive argument about the expected testimony from the experts regarding alcohol, including opinions on a more probable than not basis that alcohol consumption and exposure to cold increase the risk of frostbite injury; the potential for Dr. Dreyer to assert a contributory negligence claim related to alcohol; and the burden of proof as to causation with respect to alcohol under *Colley*. 1 RP (Smith) 17, 19-28, 52, 66-77, 86-89, 130-131. Mr. Needham asked the trial

court to revisit its interpretation of *Colley* as to the alcohol evidence on the first day of trial; after quoting from *Colley* on the record, the trial court stood by its rulings admitting the evidence. 2 RP (Smith) 182-86.

As to the contributory negligence claim, the trial court ultimately instructed the jury it could consider whether Mr. Needham's "failure to exercise ordinary care," in walking around barefoot outside in the snow after consuming alcohol was "also a proximate cause of the injury or damage claimed," only if it found that Dr. Dreyer or Dr. de la Cruz³ was negligent. CP 104; *see also* 2 RP (Smith) 409-12.

2. Dr. Dreyer testified that she asked Mr. Needham whether he had any problems breathing on December 28, that he denied any breathing problems, and that she did not believe that his symptoms were consistent with pneumonia.

At trial, Dr. Dreyer testified that she "asked [Mr. Needham] about his breathing problems" at his December 28 visit, "and he reported to me that he didn't have any." 2 RP (Starr) 384-85. Dr. Dreyer did not "recall"

³ Division I rejected Dr. Dreyer's argument on appeal that the trial court properly instructed the jury on the exercise of medical judgment with respect to Dr. de la Cruz because Mr. Needham's complaint "alleged no claims premised on Dr. de la Cruz's actions" and he made no arguments on appeal regarding Dr. de la Cruz. *Slip Op.* at 14-15. But, the record establishes that the trial court included Dr. de la Cruz in the jury instructions and on the verdict form, CP 85-87, 94, 104, the exercise of judgment instruction referred to "a health care provider" without naming either Dr. Dreyer or Dr. de la Cruz, CP 102, and Dr. de la Cruz testified that after receiving a message from the answering service indicating that Mr. Needham received her message about the lab results, and trying to call him a second time, she *chose* not to continue calling him because she was confident that he received her message and would have called back with any questions or concerns – a decision within the standard of care. 1 RP (Starr) 148-52.

or "remember" a conversation with Mr. Needham about the difference between the medical assistant's note and his report to her of no breathing problems, but did not agree that her lack of recollection meant a conversation did not occur. 2 RP (Starr) 384.

Dr. Dreyer also testified extensively about her habits and routines at patient visits – testimony Mr. Needham had agreed would be admissible – provided she could establish a foundation.⁴ 1 RP (Smith) 84. Dr. Dreyer testified, without objection from Mr. Needham, that she generally liked to see her HIV patients every three months, or even more often, 1 RP (Starr) 198; patients often told the medical assistant different concerns than they told her, 1 RP (Starr) 198-99; she was not a good typist and rarely worked on the computer during an exam, other than when looking at something on it with the patient, 1 RP (Starr) 200; she did not use the copy and paste function when completing the Review of Systems section of medical records, 1 RP (Starr) 199; if a patient reported a breathing problem, she would ask more questions about timing and circumstances, 1 RP (Starr) 202; she had a lot of patients that were chronically ill and variations in their blood pressure had various causes and were not worrisome absent other symptoms, like dizziness or confusion, 1 RP (Starr) 206-07; in her past

_

⁴ Under ER 406, absent a recollection of a specific event, a witness may testify about habit or routine practice. Evidence is admissible to prove that the witness acted in conformity with her habit on a particular occasion. *Id*.

experience with patients, C. difficile commonly lasted for a long time, sometimes requiring different drugs, 1 RP (Starr) 210-11; before she ordered any kind of test, she used her medical judgment to consider what she was going to do differently with the results, to decide whether the test was worth conduct, 1 RP (Starr) 211-12; because some patients may had GI problems or diarrhea caused by other bacteria, she needed to know what she was treating before prescribing medication, 2 RP (Starr) 295; in her 30 years of practice, it was common for patients to tell the medical assistant, and even the receptionist, different complaints or concerns before a visit, and then she would hear "a third story" from the patient during her examination, so she would often choose to trust that her patient would talk to her and used that direct contact "to drive" the visit, 2 RP (Starr) 304; she generally reviewed a patient's chart the night before the exam, typing recommended lab tests into the patient instruction part, and then would finish typing up the impression and plan with the patient at the end of the visit so she could print it out for the patient to take home, 2 RP (Starr) 311; and, she did not have an independent memory of whether she looked at the medical assistant's note or discussed Mr. Needham's vital signs with him on December 28, 2012, although she would usually review such records and routinely checked vital signs, 2 RP (Starr) 304-05, 382.

C. <u>Procedural Background – Court of Appeals.</u>

Mr. Needham appealed the jury verdict. In its published opinion, Division I adopts several of Mr. Needham's self-serving characterizations of the evidence presented to the jury on disputed issues without acknowledging contrary evidence presented by Dr. Dreyer. For example, Division I states that "Dr. Dreyer did not address [Mr. Needham's] breathing symptoms," Slip Op. at 1, "did not discuss Needham's breathing problem with him," Slip Op. at 5, "did not address Needham's breathing symptoms at all," Slip Op. at 12, "did not diagnose or choose between treatments for" his "breathing problems," Slip Op. at 12, "simply did not acknowledge Needham's reported chest symptoms," Slip Op. at 13, and "presented no evidence that she performed a physical examination and came to a diagnosis regarding Needham's difficulty breathing" or "addressed Needham's potentially significant vital sign abnormalities or his statements to the medical assistant that he had difficulty breathing," Slip Op. at 14, but fails to recognize that Dr. Dreyer's testimony that she asked Mr. Needham to identify any breathing problem and his denial, as well as her habits and routine testimony, created a dispute of material fact as to this issue that only the jury could resolve. See, e.g., Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015) ("At its core, the right of trial by jury guarantees litigants the right to have a jury resolve questions of disputed material facts").

Similarly, Division I also adopted Mr. Needham's claim that any opinion as to the impact of his admitted alcohol consumption immediately prior to his decision to go out into two feet of snow barefoot was "based on speculation" simply because (1) his own admissions were the only evidence that he consumed alcohol on December 31; and (2) no evidence showed he was "inebriated" when he collapsed. *Slip Op.* at 17. Division I ignored the facts and arguments considered by the trial court before and during trial as well as the trial court's instructions on the burden of proof and the contributory negligence defense. *See supra*, Sec. IV.A & Sec. IV.B.1.

Finally, Division I rested its harmless error analysis in part upon Dr. Dreyer's appellate counsel's summary of the defense theory as to both standard of care and causation, *Slip Op.* 23-24, rather the usual presumption that juries follow the court's instructions. *See*, *e.g.*, *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 269-70, 830 P.2d 646 (1992); *see Br. Resp.* at 31-32, 49-50.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Dr. Dreyer seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) of Division I's published opinion reversing and remanding for a new trial. Division I's evaluation of the evidence supporting the exercise of judgment instruction conflicts with *Fergen*, warranting review under both RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). Division I's evaluation of the admission of alcohol evidence conflicts with *Colley*, warranting review under both RAP

13.4(b)(2) and (4). Division I's harmless error analysis conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

A. Division I's Decision Conflicts with *Fergen*.

Rather than focusing on this Court's holding in Fergen, Division I relied on its own re-examination of the facts in Fergen, as well as dicta within one other case, to reach an opposite result. Slip Op. at 7-15. In Fergen, this Court held that "evidence of consciously ruling out other diagnoses is not required; a defendant need only produce sufficient evidence of use of clinical judgment in diagnosis or treatment to satisfy a trial judge that the instruction is appropriate." 182 Wn.2d at 799. In considering, and rejecting, the petitioners' claim that a physician "must present clear evidence of a conscious choice between alternate diagnoses or treatments," this Court observed that it had previously found evidence to be sufficient for the instruction "when the physician used judgment in making a diagnostic choice or choosing a treatment plan." Id. at 806 (citing Miller v. Kennedy, 91 Wn.2d 155, 160, 588 P.2d 734 (1978) (holding that "exercise of professional judgment is an inherent part of the care and skill involved in the practice of medicine") and Christensen v. Munsen, 123 Wn.2d 234, 237-38,867 P.2d 626 (1994).

This Court also identified "a low bar that must be satisfied for the

court to hold that a physician made a choice between treatments or diagnoses" in decisions by the appellate courts. *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 807-08. Of note, the Court included *Housel v. James*, 141 Wn. App. 748, 172 P.3d 712 (2007), as an example of the "low bar," despite its "reiterations of the cautions of" *Watson v. Hockett*, 107 Wn.2d 158, 727 P.2d 669 (1986) (holding that the instruction is not appropriate in every medical malpractice action). *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 807-08. While requiring a choice "between reasonable, medically acceptable options," this Court held that the requirement is interpreted "very broadly" "to encompass *any* exercise of professional judgment in treatment or diagnosis." *Id.* at 809.

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