FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/21/2020 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98118-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES NEEDHAM, Respondent,

v.

SHERYL DREYER, and DAVITA EVERETT PHYSICIANS, INC. P.S. d/b/a The Everett Clinic, Petitioners.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY #16-2-20189-31

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BURI FUNSTON MUMFORD & FURLONG, PLLC

By Philip Buri, WSBA #17637 Michael T. Mumford, WSBA #28652 1601 F Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 752-1500

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

ARGUMENT

III. The Court of Appeals Properly Applied This Court's Ruling in Fergen v. Sestero.

To justify review, Defendants allege that the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with *Fergen v. Sestro*, 182 Wn.2d 794, 346 P.3d 708 (2015), *Colley v. PeaceHealth*, 177 Wn. App. 717, 312 P.3d 989 (2013), and the harmless error doctrine. (Petition at 12). None of these arguments are persuasive, and none require further review by this Court.

A. <u>Dr. Dreyer Was Simply Practicing Medicine At The Time.</u>

The medical judgment instruction "should not be given simply if a physician is practicing medicine at the time." *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 808.

The medical judgment rule protects health care providers from liability for making a reasonable choice in diagnosis and treatment when *more than one* alternative is within the standard of care. In other words, a health care provider's reasonable choice, on its own, should not create liability because medical treatment inherently requires making choices between alternatives.

Given the technical nature of medicine, practitioners can always assert in hindsight that every action or inaction with a patient involved a choice. For this reason, malpractice in routine medical encounters (which still involve choices) falls outside the medical judgment rule, because the negligence claim is not for the *choice* itself, but for the practitioner's failure to meet the standard of care.

In this case, Mr. Needham came to the Everett clinic for what Dr. Dreyer characterized as a routine office visit. (2 Vol. 383) He did not come seeking a diagnosis or with a pressing complaint. Instead, he had a regularly scheduled visit to make sure his medications were on track and to complete routine lab work. *Id.* When he presented at the clinic he was asked about what was bothering him. He reported pain in his back and feet, and that he couldn't breathe very good. (Def. Ex. 101 at 254) He was not consulting Dr. Dreyer for her opinion about what alternatives were available to him to treat these reported symptoms, but rather was simply reporting symptoms and relying on his doctor to know what to do.

What could be more emblematic of "merely practicing medicine at the time?" As the Court of Appeals recognized, Dr. Dreyer did not choose among diagnoses or treatments during Mr. Needham's routine office visit.

According to Needham's testimony and the medical record from his visit to the Clinic on December 28, 2012, Dr. Dreyer did not discuss Needham's breathing problem with him, and Dr. Dreyer testified that she did not perform a chest examination during the visit. Dr. Dreyer testified that she did not do so because Needham did not tell her he was having breathing problems. Specifically, the medical record indicates that the examination and treatment plan only addressed HIV, diarrhea, back pain, and Needham's mental health.

Needham, 454 P.3d at 143. Dr. Dreyer was not exercising medical judgment for Mr. Needham's breathing problems necessary to trigger protection from liability. "Dr. Dreyer did not address Needham's breathing symptoms at all, and it follows that she did not exercise her medical judgment to address Needham's symptoms." *Needham*, 454 P.3d at 143.

The Court of Appeals carefully applied this Court's guidance in *Fergen*, refusing to approve the medical judgment instruction in case where Dr. Dreyer was simply practicing medicine during a routine office visit.

B. <u>Dr. Dreyer Did Not Choose Between Reasonable,</u> <u>Medically Acceptable Alternatives</u>

Next, the medical judgment rule applies only when the doctor chooses between reasonable, medically acceptable options. "The defendant had a choice of therapeutic techniques within the proper standard of care and used his judgment to choose which course of treatment to take." *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 807. In other words, each of the physician's options or choices must be within the standard of care. Here, Dr. Dreyer failed to notice and act on Mr. Needham's abnormal vital signs, and she failed to ask why he reported to the medical assistant that he was having trouble breathing. Overlooking abnormal vital signs is not a reasonable treatment alternative.

Choices may exist in every medical situation, but an active choice must be made in order to receive the exercise of benefit instruction. In short, we are not persuaded by Dr. Dreyer and the Clinic's assertion that the exercise of judgment instruction was proper simply because Dr. Dreyer may have *had* a choice when there is no evidence that she *made* a choice.

Needham, 454 P.3d at 144.

In their petition, Defendants attack the Court of Appeals for three reasons. First they criticize the court for "rel[ying] on its own reexamination of the facts in *Fergen*, as well as dicta within one other case, to reach an opposite result." (Petition at 13). The Court of Appeals examined the *Fergen* decision closely and used helpful instruction from Division III in *Housel v. James*, 141 Wn. App. 748, 760, 172 P.3d 712 (2007). This is what an appellate court should do when reviewing a jury instruction that "is to be used with caution." WPI 105.08 (Note On Use). The pattern instruction further advises: "this instruction may be used only

when the doctor is confronted with a choice among competing therapeutic techniques or among medical diagnoses." WPI 105.08 (Note On Use) The Court of Appeals did not err by carefully examining the appellate record, caselaw, and relevant treatises before reaching its decision.

Second, Defendants fault the court for not setting the "low bar" in Fergen even lower to affirm the trial court's decision. (Petition at 14); Fergen, 182 Wn.2d at 807 ("we consistently see a low bar that must be satisfied"). If Defendants are correct that Dr. Dreyer made a choice among competing therapeutic techniques or among medical diagnoses in this case, then this controversial instruction is appropriate in every case. No routine office visit or medical examination would be outside the shelter of the medical judgment rule. The Court of Appeals correctly enforced the boundaries to the rule, namely, that Dr. Dreyer must at least show she made a choice. Her proof -- that a choice existed -- would immunize practitioners in every medical interaction in every context.

Third, Defendants criticize the Court of Appeals for not providing enough deference to the trial court. (Petition at 15). The Court of Appeals reviewed the trial court's decision to give the medical judgment instruction for an abuse of discretion. *Needham*, 454 P.3d at 141 (2019) ("review a trial court's decision to provide a jury instruction for abuse of discretion").

A court should give the instruction only when the physician presents sufficient evidence that they made a choice between two or more alternative, "reasonable [and] medically acceptable" treatment plans or diagnoses. *Fergen*, 182 Wash.2d at 808, 346 P.3d 708. The court should not give the instruction "simply if a physician is practicing medicine at the time." Fergen, 182 Wash.2d at 808, 346 P.3d 708.

Needham, 454 P.3d at 142. The Court found an abuse of discretion based on Defendants' failure to qualify for the controversial, supplemental instruction.

Dr. Dreyer presented no evidence that she even discussed Needham's *present* breathing difficulties with him. Rather, the record indicates that Dr. Dreyer simply did not acknowledge Needham's reported chest symptoms despite being able to learn of them by reviewing his medical chart. It does not show that she reached the stage of medical treatment where she was exercising her judgment to choose between diagnoses and treatments.

Needham, 454 P.3d at 144. This is not a matter of credibility or weight; the record has no evidence that Dr. Dreyer made a diagnostic choice during the December office visit. No reasonable judge would give the instruction under these circumstances.

Choosing to focus on one suspected disease and missing a developing infection from another disease is not a reasonable medical choice. A physician is required to be vigilant about all possible infections. Mr. Needham's claim is not that she should have focused on C. difficile rather than pneumonia -- or vice versa. It is that she failed to notice

important signs of infection from *both* of these diseases. This is not a diagnostic choice; it is malpractice.

C. <u>The Medical Judgment Instruction Unfairly Benefits</u> Physicians Over Other Professionals.

Professional negligence has the same elements for all professions: duty, breach, causation and damages. Despite being codified in RCW Ch. 7.70, the elements of a medical malpractice claim are effectively the same as a common law negligence claim involving other professionals. But physicians are the only professionals who enjoy a special, exclusive, jury instruction that emphasizes to the jury that medical treatment and diagnosis involves choices and judgment calls.

There is no legal judgment instruction to use in malpractice cases involving attorneys. There is no financial judgment instruction to use in cases involving accountants. There is no engineering judgment instruction to use in cases involving engineers. The use of the medical judgment instruction emphasizes that physicians enjoy special status and are held to a different standard than other professionals.

The instruction exists to remind the juries that the practice of medicine requires choices. *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 808. Is not the same true for other professions? Why do juries only need to be reminded that

professionals exercise judgment and make choices in the medical context and not in other contexts?

As the dissent in *Fergen* points out, the medical judgment is a relic of a bygone era where doctors always knew best and could only be held accountable when they acted in bad faith. It is time to abolish this antiquated and slanted instruction entirely. At minimum, trial courts must follow this Court's guidance and use the instruction cautiously for a limited set of circumstances. The Court of Appeals appropriately reversed the trial court for not recognizing these boundaries.

IV. Colley Does Not Entitle Experts To Speculate.

Next, the Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting speculative expert testimony.

Dr. Dreyer's experts relied solely on Needham's statement that he drank on the day of his collapse. The evidence does not show that Needham was inebriated when he collapsed or what his blood alcohol content (BAC) level was. Instead, the testimony was based on speculation, which was not supported by a factual basis in the record.

Needham, 454 P.3d at 145. At trial, Defendants persuaded the trial court that *Colley v. Peacehealth*, 177 Wn. App. 717, 312 P.3d 989 (2013), entitled their experts to testify on the possible effect alcohol may have had on Mr. Needham's condition.

The Court of Appeals identified a critical distinction with *Colley*: "the experts in *Colley* relied on confirmed diagnoses, an extensive past medical history, and an admitted *history* of alcoholism." *Needham*, 454 P.3d at 145. Since none of that existed here, Defendants' experts, by their own admission, were "speculating as to the affect that alcohol could have had on Needham at the time of the collapse or whether it did." *Needham*, 454 P.3d at 146. The Court of Appeals appropriately concluded this was an abuse of discretion. *Volk v. DeMeerleer*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 277, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) ("when an expert fails to ground his or her opinions on facts in the record, courts have consistently found that the testimony is overly speculative and inadmissible").

A. <u>Defense And Plaintiff Experts Must Meet The Same Evidentiary Standard.</u>

Opinion testimony can only be admitted if it is helpful to the trier of fact. In order to be helpful, it must be relevant. Testimony that is speculative is not relevant. To be relevant, opinion testimony must be stated on a more probable than not basis.

Expert medical testimony must meet the standard of reasonable medical certainty or reasonable medical probability. See, e.g., Ritzschke v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 76 Wn.2d 29, 30, 454 P.2d 850 (1969); O'Donoghue v. Riggs, 73 Wn.2d 814, 822–23, 440 P.2d 823 (1968); see also Restatement (third) of Torts: Liability of Physical and Emotional Harm § 28 cmt. c(5); Black's Law Dictionary 1380 (9th ed. 2009) (noting that "reasonable medical probability" and "reasonable medical certainty" are used interchangeably).

Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593, 606–07, 260 P.3d 857 (2011).

In their petition, Defendants assert a different standard for defense experts under *Colley*.

[T]he trial court properly admitted testimony of defense experts that was not offered to establish a superseding cause, but to show that the plaintiff lacked proof of his causation theory by identifying other explanations for the claimed injury and opining that it was not possible to infer with certainty that those other explanations could not be ruled out. 177 Wn. App. at 729, 732. The trial court was not required to exclude the evidence as irrelevant or speculative because "[t]he defendant does not have the burden to prove causation or lack of causation." *Id.* at 728-29.

(Petition at 17). According to Defendants, since they do not have the burden of proof, their medical experts can testify on *possible* alternative causes for injury.

The Court of Appeals wisely rejected this attack on the fundamental standards of relevance and admissibility.

The defense can rely on evidence in the record to show that the plaintiff lacked proof of causation when there are other known potential causes of plaintiff's injury. *Colley*, 177 Wash. App. at 729, 312 P.3d 989. In short, in *Colley*, we held that the defense may attack the premise of the plaintiff's causation theory, if the defense presents evidence of causation that is relevant and probative. Specifically, the evidence must first be admissible, and expert testimony must be based on facts in the record, or risk being overly speculative and inadmissible.

Needham, 454 P.3d at 145.

An expert can rule out a cause on a more probable than not basis, but may not speculate on what the cause might have been. In other words, a defense expert may testify, "I do not know what the cause was, but I can give an opinion on a more probable than not basis that it was not x." But an expert may not testify that, "I cannot state this on a more probable than not basis, but in my opinion it could have been x, y or z."

B. <u>The Trial Court Admitted Speculative And Prejudicial</u> Evidence.

By admitting evidence of Mr. Needham's alcohol consumption, and then allowing Defendants' experts to speculate on its possible contribution to his injuries, the trial court caused unfairly prejudiced Mr. Needham in the eyes of the jury.

We are quite concerned about the prejudicial impact of this testimony. We are aware that it is certainly possible that the jury rejected Kramer's liability claims because it thought poorly of him.

Kramer v. J.I. Case Mfg. Co., 62 Wn. App. 544, 559–60, 815 P.2d 798 (1991). As the Court of Appeals concluded,

The evidence's probative value is difficult—if not impossible—to discern. On the other hand, the evidence likely had a significant prejudicial effect, which cast Needham as a heavy drinker, referenced alcohol within Needham's medical records, and provided the jury with a more understandable or relatable cause of collapse, i.e. overconsumption of alcohol. Because of the highly prejudicial

nature of the evidence and the inability to discern its probative value, we conclude that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting it.

Needham, 454 P.3d at 146-47.

V. The Cumulative Errors Materially Affected Mr. Needham's Trial.

Finally, Defendants argue that the trial court's errors did not materially affect the jurors' deliberations and verdict. "[E]ven if there was error, Division I's conclusion that the error was not harmless is contrary the well-established presumption that a jury followed the court's instructions." (Petition at 19). Defendants underestimate the effect of the trial court's errors.

The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard for reversable error and found that the error below required a new trial. *Needham*, 454 P.3d at 147 ("outcome of the trial...materially affected"). Defendants' repeated, unsupported, allegations of "binge drinking", coupled with the powerful medical judgment instruction, led directly to the jury's verdict for Dr. Dreyer. "The jury instruction affected the final outcome of the case when it emphasized Dr. Dreyer's theory that Needham's drinking alcohol on December 31 caused his collapse." *Needham*, 454 P.3d at 147. The cumulative errors deprived Mr. Needham of a fair trial.

CONCLUSION

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